1982

State of Utah v. Robert Jordan, Jr. : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants appeal from convictions of violations of Section 76-10-1206.5 U.C.A. (1953) as amended. Appellants claim this statute is unconstitutionally overbroad and unconstitutionally vague in that the statute infringes on their rights to free speech under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Utah. Appellants also claim that the physical evidence obtained from searches of the persons and property of the defendants was obtained in violation of the rights of defendants under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Article I, Section 14 of the Constitution of Utah, and Utah Code Annotated 76-10-1212. Trial was held in this matter before the Honorable J. Robert Bullock, sitting with our a jury, on December 9, 1981. The verdict of guilty was brought in by the Judge, after taking the matter under advisement,

on December 14, 1981, and the judgment and sentence was rendered on January 22, 1982.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Honorable J. Robert Bullock of the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah, in and for Utah County, sitting without a jury. Defendants appeal from a judgment of guilty entered by Judge Bullock and from the evidentiary rulings made by the Judge.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek a reversal of the judgment and conviction and a declaration by this Court that Section 76-10-1206.5 U.C.A. is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to these defendants. In the alternative, appellants seek a remand to the District Court for retrial, with instructions to suppress all physical evidence obtained from defendants as a result of the unlawful search and seizure.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants are an unmarried couple who had lived together as husband and wife for some period prior to September 15, 1981. For about two years, defendants had been friendly with Holly Wilkerson (date of birth: January 8, 1966) and on occasions prior to this date they had told her of their interest in photography. Specifically, they had occasionally taken pictures of each other, and one or two other friends, in the nude. They had also told her that they had had some financial trouble and pawned their camera. The evidence at trial showed that during

the period of this relationship, up to and including September 15, 1981, Holly Wilkerson deliberately led defendants to believe that she was considerably older than she really was, out of fear that they would not consider her as close a friend if they knew her true age (T. 134-136). The effect of this evidence was controverted by the testimony of Judith Wilkerson, Holly's mother, who testified that she had told defendant, Terry Fullmer, either in late June or early July of 1980, that her daughter was, at that time, only fourteen (T. 143-144).

Sometime around the first of September, 1981, defendant Terry Fullmer, asked Holly Wilkerson if she could borrow Holly's Polaroid instant camera, and indicated that she would probably want to use it for some nude photography. There was also some discussion at that time as to whether Holly would be interested in posing in the nude, but apparently no decision was made. On September 15, Holly went to the home of defendants with her camera and was asked again if she would be interested in posing in the nude. She said she was willing, and various pictures were taken in which she, and each of the defendants, appeared nude, either separately or together (T.122-127). The State alleged that several of the pictures contained "simulated sex acts", but the Court appears to have made no ruling on that contention. The evidence was uncontroverted that no pressure of any kind was brought to bear on Miss Wilkerson to pose, that no actual sex acts took place involving her and either of the defendants on that date, and that no discussions were had concerning commercial use of the

photographs (T. 136-137).

On or about November 1, 1981, a search warrant was issued for the residence of defendants based upon information from a confidential police informant which resulted in the seizure of 265 photographs (T. 128-129), unexposed film, flash cubes, a cloth sack, and a General Electric color television set (T.85). Thirty of the photographs were offered and received as evidence over the objection of the defendants (T. 132-133). (Although the Court reserved ruling on the admissibility of the photographs as to defendant Jordan, in view of the Court's finding of guilty it is assumed that the Court received those exhibits as to Jordan as well.) As a result of that visit, a search warrant was obtained, and defendants were arrested and prosecuted under an Information which recited as follows:

The undersigned, Pete Hanson, under oath states on information and belief that the defendants committed the crimes of:

SEXUAL EXPLOITATION OF A MINOR, a second degree felony, at Utah County, Utah, on or about September 15, 1981, in violation of Section 76-10-1206.5, Utah Criminal Code, as amended, in that they, at the time and place aforesaid, knowingly and intentionally used, persuaded, induced or enticed Holly Wilkerson, a minor, to pose in the nude for the purpose of photographing, filming, recording, or displaying sexual or simulated sexual conduct.

Defendants were each convicted under that Information, and from those convictions, they appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SECTION 76-10-1206.5 U.C.A. IS INVALID ON ITS FACE AS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL INFRINGEMENT OF THE RIGHT OF FREE SPEECH.

The 1979 session of the Utah Legislature passed Section 76-10-1206.5 as a part of a nation-wide drive to prohibit the use of minors in pornographic photographs and films. That section was amended by the 1981 Legislature to broaden the language so as to prohibit the photography of minors in the nude. That section reads as follows: (1981 amendments are underlined)

Section 76-10-1206.5. Sexual exploitation of minors.

(1) A person is guilty of sexual exploitation of a minor who knowingly employs, uses, persuades, induces, entices or coerces any minor to pose in the nude for the purpose of sexual arousal of any person or for profit or to engage in any sexual or simulated sexual conduct for the purpose of photographing, filming, recording or displaying in any way the sexual or simulated sexual conduct.

(2) Any person who photographs, films, or records in any way minors in the nude for the purpose of sexual arousal of any person or for profit or engaged in any sexual or simulated sexual conduct is guilty of sexual exploitation of a minor.

(3) Any person who displays, distributes, possesses for the purpose of distributing, or sells material depicting minors in the nude or engaging in sexual or simulated sexual conduct is guilty of sexual exploitation of minors.

(4) It is not a defense to this section that the person who is charged with sexual exploitation of a minor is parent, legal guardian or other person exercising legal control of the child who was the subject of the exploitation.

(5) A violation of this section is a felony of the second degree.

The Information under which defendants were charged and convicted appears to be a conglomeration of the new and old language in subparagraph (1). The exact nature of the conduct charged against these defendants, and that proven at trial, will be examined later.

For the present, however, it is sufficient to note that a finding that the defendants knowingly used a minor to pose in the nude for either the sexual arousal of any person or for profit, while photographing her, is enough to obtain a conviction for violation of this code section. Defendants contend that the broad language of the statute renders it invalid on its face, whether or not the conduct of these defendants could have been constitutionally proscribed by a narrowly drawn statute.

In the case of Doran vs. Salem Inn, Inc., 422 U.S. 930(1975), the United States Supreme Court affirmed a temporary injunction issued against enforcement of a town ordinance prohibiting topless dancing. Plaintiffs, who sought declaratory relief against the ordinance of a town in New York State, were the operators of three bars, dispensing alcoholic beverages and providing topless dancing as entertainment for its customers. The Court, in sustaining the injunction against enforcement of the ordinance, referred to its previous decision in California vs. LaRue, 409 U.S. 109(1972). That decision held that the powers of the states to regulate the sale of alcoholic beverages under the Twenty-first Amendment, outweigh any First Amendment interest in nude dancing and that a state can therefore ban such dancing in bars, under its power to license the dispensing of liquor. The Court, nevertheless, indicated preliminarily that it was proper to enjoin the enforcement of this law, because of its overbreadth. The Court observed:

In the present case, a challenged ordinance applies not merely to places which serve liquor, but to many other establishments as well. The District Court observed, we believe correctly:

"The local ordinance here attacked not only prohibits topless dancing in bars but also prohibits any female from appearing in 'any public place' with uncovered breasts. There is no limit to the interpretation of the term 'any public place'. It could include the theater, town hall, opera house, as well as a public market place, street or any place of assembly, indoors or outdoors. Thus, this ordinance would prohibit the performance of the 'Ballet Africains' and a number of other works of unquestionable artistic and socially redeeming significance." 364F Supp., at 483.

We have previously held that even though a statute or ordinance may be constitutionally applied to the activities of a particular defendant, that defendant may challenge it on the basis of over-breadth if it is so drawn as to sweep within its ambit protected speech or expression of other persons not before the Court. As we said in Grayned vs. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 114, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 2302, 33 L.Ed.2d 222 (1972):

"Because over-broad laws, like vague ones, deter privileged activity, our cases firmly establish Appellant's standing to raise an overbreadth challenge." 422 U.S. at 933.

Appellants in this case, then, clearly have the right to challenge the statute in question, even if the acts alleged by the State in this particular instance could be validly prohibited.

A long line of cases on both the State and Federal level have made it clear that photographs, movies and other forms of artistic expression, come within the purview of the First Amendment protection against infringement of free speech. Also, a long line of cases on the Federal level indicate that the Federal prohibitions against infringement of free speech apply to the States, under the Fourteenth Amendment. Utah, of course, has its own similar prohibition, in Article I, Section 15. The United

States Supreme Court has dealt with the question of what limits States may put on artistic expression in books, photographs and films, on several occasions. In Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476 (1957) the Court stated:

All ideas having even the slightest redeeming social importance - unorthodox ideas, controversial ideas, even ideas hateful to the prevailing climate of opinion - have the full protection of the (First Amendment) guarantees, unless excludable because they encroach upon the limited area of more important interests. But implicit in the history of the First Amendment is the rejection of obscenity as utterly without redeeming social importance. 354 U.S. at 484

The Supreme Court, in that case, set standards under which the Court could ban production or distribution of books, photographs and films, as obscene. Those standards, however, were found to be difficult to apply, and the Court re-examined them and set more concrete standards in the case of Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15 (1972):

State statutes designed to regulate obscene materials must be carefully limited. (citations omitted). As a result, we now confine the permissible scope of such regulation to works which depict or describe sexual conduct. That conduct must be specifically defined by the applicable state law, as written or authoritatively construed. A state offense must also be limited to works which, taken as a whole, appeal to the prurient interest in sex, which portray sexual conduct in a patently offensive way, and which, taken as a whole, do not have serious literary, artistic, political, or scientific value.

The basic guideline for the trier of fact must be: (a) whether "the average person applying contemporary community standards" would find that the work taken as a whole, appeals to the prurient interest, (citations omitted); (b) whether the work depicts or describes, in a patently offensive way, sexual conduct specifically defined by the applicable state law; and (c) whether the work, taken as a whole, lacks serious literary, artistic, political, or scientific value. 413 U.S. at 23 through 24.

The Court went on to indicate that some freedom of definition was to be accorded to individual states, and to give examples of what a state might regulate, as follows:

We emphasize that it is not our function to propose regulatory schemes for the States. That must await their concrete legislative efforts. It is possible, however, to give a few plain examples of what a state statute could define for regulation under part (b) of the standard announced in this opinion, supra:

(a) Patently offensive representations or descriptions of ultimate sex acts, normal or perverted, actual or simulated. (b) Patently offensive representation or descriptions of masturbation, excretory functions, and lewd exhibition of the genitals. 413 U.S. at 25.

And, for one further clarification as to what types of materials could be excluded from the public, the Court stated thusly:

Under the holdings announced today, no one will be subject to prosecution for the sale or exposure of obscene materials unless these materials depict or describe patently offensive 'hard core' sexual conduct specifically defined by the regulating state law, as written or construed. 413 U.S. at 27.

The Legislature of the State of Utah, then, has taken an act that was originally designed to protect minors against their use in pronography, and greatly expanded the types of material prohibited. This expansion makes the law unconstitutionally overbroad. The Court in Miller v. California clearly stated the standards of sexual conduct, the depiction of which may be prohibited, which standards do not exist in the law as modified by the 1981 Legislature.

How far the statute at issue here goes beyond the limits allowed by Miller v. California is illustrated by the definition of nudity contained in Section 76-10-1201 (6) U.C.A. (1953) as

amended. The definitions, as part of Title 76, Chapter 26, Part 12 of the Criminal Code, are meant to be used with all portions of that part. That section reads as follows:

'Nudity' means the showing of a human male or female genitals, pubic area, or buttocks, with less than an opaque covering, or any portion thereof below the top of the nipple, or the depiction of covered male genitals in a discernably turgid state.

Reading that definition into the statute renders the statute not only hopelessly overbroad, but absolutely ridiculous and foolish. The statute prohibits, on its face, even a parent from taking a picture of a three month old daughter wearing nothing but a diaper, and then submitting it to any kind of a photography contest where prizes (profit) are offered. To further illustrate the breadth of the statute, counsel for appellants purchased a greeting card during the month of April, 1982, in a Grand Central store in Salt Lake City. A copy of that greeting card is included in the Brief as appendix A. Obviously, the person on the first page of the greeting card is a female. If, as is only a guess, the child on the inside of the greeting card is also a female, "any person who displays, distributes, possesses for the purpose of distributing, or sells" this card in the State of Utah is guilty of a violation of the same act for which defendants have been convicted. Under this law, many uses of children in advertising, especially products for babies, would be banned in this state. That may not have been what the Legislature intended to accomplish, but that is the clear meaning of the act. In the 1968 case of Ginsberg vs. New York, 390 U.S. 629, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld a New York

State law which protected minors from the sale of books and magazines, including "girlie magazines", which were not obscene for adults. In doing so, the Court upheld the concept of "variable obscenity". In that case, the Supreme Court upheld a law prohibiting the sale to minors of pictures that were "harmful to minors" and had:

that quality of. . . representation . . . of nudity . . . (which) . . . (i) predominately appeals to the prurient, shameful or morbid interest of minors, and (ii) is patently offensive to prevailing standards in the adult community as a whole with respect to what is suitable material for minors, and (iii) is utterly without redeeming social importance for minors. 390 U.S. at 633.

The Court there, in effect, found that the State of New York was within its rights in defining pornography more broadly for minors, than for adults. The Court went on to say, however, that the New York State of Appeals had defined the term "harmful to minors" as "virtually identical to the Supreme Court's most recent statement of the elements of obscenity." 390 U.S. at 643.

The Ginsberg case was decided the same day as its companion case of Interstate Circuit, Inc. v. City of Dallas, 390 U.S. 676,⁽¹⁹⁾ While upholding the New York law, the Supreme Court struck down a Dallas City ordinance which prohibited a motion picture exhibitor from admitting children under 16 to films classified by a motion picture classification board as "not suitable for young persons." That term was defined in the ordinance as including films which described or portrayed:

Nudity beyond the customary limits of candor in the community, or sexual promiscuity or extra-marital or abnormal sexual relations in such a manner as to be,

in the judgment of the Board, likely to incite or encourage delinquency or sexual promiscuity on the part of young persons or to appeal to their prurient interest. 390 U.S. at 681.

The Court there found that definition to be unconstitutionally vague and quoted Judge Fuld in People vs. Kahan, 15 N.Y.2d 311, 258 N.Y.S.2d 391 (1965) in pointing out:

"It is, however, essential that legislation aimed at protecting children from allegedly harmful expression -- no less than legislation enacted with respect to adults -- be clearly drawn and that the standards adopted be reasonably precise so that those who are governed by the law and those that administer it will understand its meaning and application. 258 N.Y.S.2d at 393, 390 U.S. at 689.

What both statutes had in common was that they attempted to prohibit exposure of children to materials involving nudity in a way that was unfit for people of their age. Obviously, exposure to nudity itself, was insufficient, or the Court would have upheld the Dallas ordinance as well.

That children may not be protected from all nudity was made very clear and firm in a much later Supreme Court case, that of Erznoznik vs. City of Jacksonville, 422 U.S. 205 (1975). In that case, the City of Jacksonville, Florida, passed the following ordinance:

330.313 Drive-in theaters, films visible from public streets or public places. It shall be unlawful and it is hereby declared a public nuisance for any ticket seller, ticket taker, usher, motion picture projection machine operator, manager, owner, or any other person connected with or employed by any drive-in theater in the city to exhibit, or aid or assist in exhibiting, any motion picture, slide, or other exhibit in which the human male or female bare buttocks, human female bare breasts, or human bare pubic areas are shown, if such motion picture, slide, or other exhibit is visible from any public street or public place. Violation of this section shall be punishable as a class C offense.

The City of Jacksonville cited several grounds on which the ordinance could be upheld, despite admitting that it went "far beyond the permissible restraints on obscenity . . ." 422 U.S. 208. The Court found no merit in any of the grounds, including its attempts to protect children. The Court addressed this issue by saying:

Appellee also attempts to support the ordinance as an exercise of the city's undoubted police power to protect children. Appellee maintains that even though it cannot prohibit the display of films containing nudity to adults, the present ordinance is a reasonable means of protecting minors from this type of visual influence.

It is well settled that a State or municipality can adopt more stringent controls on communicative materials available to youth than on those available to adults. (citations omitted) Nevertheless, minors are entitled to a significant measure of First Amendment protection, (citations omitted), and only in relatively narrow and well-defined circumstances may government bar public dissemination of protected materials to them. (citations omitted).

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