1982

State of Utah v. Robert Jordan, Jr. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

412 U.S. at 615.

The Court then held that the Oklahoma Hatch Act statute challenged in Broadrick, which prohibited classified service employees from soliciting, receiving, or in any way being concerned in soliciting or receiving any assessment or contribution for political organizations, candidacies, or other political purposes, as well as prohibition against an employee belonging to any national, state or local committee of a political party, was not "substantially overbroad" as it affected conduct as well as speech, stating:

It is our view that § 818 is not substantially overbroad and that whatever overbreadth may exist should be cured by case-by-case analysis of the fact situations to which its sanctions, assertively, may not be applied.

Id. at 615-616.

The Ferber Court, in finding that the New York child pornography law was not "substantially overbroad," recognized the principle enunciated in Broadrick and further stated:

The premise that a law should not be invalidated for overbreadth unless it reaches a substantial number of impermissible applications is hardly novel. On most occasions involving facial invalidation, the court has stressed the embracing sweep of the statute over protected expression. Indeed Justice Brennan observed in his dissenting opinion in Broadrick:

"We have never held that a statute should be held invalid on its face merely because it is possible to conceive of a single impermissible application, and in that sense a requirement of substantial overbreadth is already implicit in the doctrine."
413 U.S. at 630.

The requirement of substantial overbreadth is directly derived from the purpose and nature of the doctrine. While a sweeping statute, or one incapable of limitation, has the potential to repeatedly chill the exercise of expressive activity by many individuals, the extent of deterrence of protected speech can be expected to decrease with the declining reach of the regulation. This observation appears equally applicable to the publication of books and films as it is to activities, such as picketing or participation in election campaigns, which have previously been categorized as involving conduct plus speech. We see no appreciable difference between a publisher or bookseller in doubt as to the reach of New York's child pornography law and the situation faced by the Oklahoma State Employees with respect to that state's restrictions on partisan political activity. Indeed, it could be reasonably argued that the bookseller, with an economic incentive to sell

materials that may fall within the statute's scope, may be less likely to be deterred than the employee who wishes to engage in political campaign activity. Cf. Bates v. State Bar of Arizona, 433 U.S. 350, 380-381 (1977) (overbreadth analysis inapplicable to commercial speech).

31 Cr.L.R. at 3146. In the instant case, as was mentioned above, appellants' activities essentially amounted to conduct only. If any "speech" was involved, such speech deserves de minimus protection since it is coupled with conduct, and is thus, at most, within the "substantial overbreadth" standard enunciated in Broadrick and Ferber. While neither Broadrick nor Ferber gave a standardized test for determining "substantial overbreadth," it is worth noting that in both cases, the Court upheld the statutes in question. In finding the New York statute, § 263.15, constitutional, the Court stated:

. . . [W]e consider this the paradigmatic case of a state statute whose legitimate reach dwarfs its arguably impermissible applications. New York, as we have held, may constitutionally prohibit dissemination of materials specified in § 263.15.

31 Cr.L.R. at 3146. The Court expressed "serious doubt" that the arguably impermissible applications of the statute amount to more than a tiny fraction of the materials within the statute's reach, and further stated:

[n]or will we assume that the New York courts will widen the possibly invalid reach of the statute by giving an expansive construction to the proscription on "lewd exhibition(s) of the genitals."

31 Cr.L.R. at 3146. Applying this logic to the instant case, this court should affirm the findings of the lower court that as applied to these appellants, the statute is not unconstitutionally overbroad, and that the arguably impermissible applications of the statute, exemplified by the "parade of horrors" referred to in the appellants' brief and exhibited in the appendix to their brief, do not amount to more than a tiny fraction of the materials within the statute's reach, or that the courts will widen the possibly invalid reach of the statute by giving an expansive and unconstitutional construction to the language of the statute.

Under the circumstances, Utah Code Ann., § 76-10-1206.5 (1953), as amended, is "not substantially overbroad and whatever overbreadth exists should be cured through case-by-case analysis of the fact situations to which its sanctions assertively may not be applied." Broadrick, supra, at 615-616; Ferber, supra, 31 Cr.L.R. at 3146. Thus, even if the appellants could show that the activities of which they were convicted are entitled to First Amendment protections, because their actions involved conduct as well as speech, a showing of "substantial overbreadth" must be made. Since no "substantial overbreadth" has or can be shown by the appellants in their case, they are without standing to assert the "overbreadth" issue and should be precluded from raising the issue on appeal. See also: H. L. v. Matheson, ___ U.S. ___, 101 S.Ct. 1164 (1981), and Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 733 (1974).

POINT III

UNDER NEW YORK V. FERBER, UTAH CODE ANN.,
§ 76-10-1206.5 (1953), AS AMENDED, AS APPLIED
TO THESE APPELLANTS, IS NOT AN UNCONSTITU-
TIONAL INFRINGEMENT ON THE RIGHT OF FREE
SPEECH OR EXPRESSION.

As pointed out in Point I, the recent landmark decision
of New York v. Ferber, ____ U.S. ____, 31 Cr.L.R. 3139 (1982),
definitively resolved the issue of what protection the
dissemination of child pornography was to be given under the First
Amendment of the United States Constitution. Assuming, arguendo,
that the appellants had standing to raise the issues of free
speech and expression under the First Amendment, Ferber's holding
that no First Amendment protections extend to the distribution of
child pornography render the appellants' arguments without merit.

In Ferber, a 9-0 Court specifically found five grounds
for denying First Amendment protection to the distribution of
child pornography.

The Court first found that the State's interest in
"safeguarding the physical and psychological well being of a
minor" is "compelling." Globe Newspapers v. Superior Court,
____ U.S. ____, ____ (1982), cited at 31 Cr.L.R. at 3142. The
prevention of sexual exploitation and abuse of children
constitutes a government objective of surpassing importance. The
Court held:

The legislative judgment, as well as the judgment
found in the relevant literature, is that the use of
children as subjects of pornographic materials is
harmful to the physiological, emotional, and mental
health of the child. That judgment, we think,
easily passes muster under the First Amendment.

31 Cr.L.R. at 3142.

The Court's second reason for its holding was that the standard previously set out in Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15 (1973), that in order to find a work pornographic, it must, taken as a whole, appeal to the prurient interest of the average person, "bears no connection to the issue of whether a child has been physically or psychologically harmed in the production of the work." 31 Cr.L.R. at 3143. Thus, because the distribution of photographs and films depicting sexual activity by juveniles is intrinsically related to the sexual abuse of children, it is irrelevant to the determination of the overriding issue of the protection of children whether the material has a literary, artistic, political, or social value, and "we therefore cannot conclude that the Miller standard is a satisfactory solution to the child pornography problem." 31 Cr.L.R. at 3143.

Third, the Court recognized that the production of child pornography is illegal throughout the nation, and that since the advertising and selling of child pornography provides an economic motive for that production, the First Amendment protections given the advertising are outweighed by the State's interest in protecting children. See Point I, supra.

The fourth reason for upholding Ferber's conviction was based upon the finding that the value of permitting live performances and photographic reproductions of children engaged in lewd sexual conduct is "exceedingly modest, if not de minimus."

The Court stated:

We consider it unlikely that visual depictions of children performing sexual acts or lewdly exhibiting their genitals would often constitute an important and necessary part of a literary performance or scientific or education work.

31 Cr.L.R. at 3143.

Fifth, the Court found that a recognition and classification of child pornography as a special category outside the protection of First Amendment protections is not incompatible with earlier decisions construing the First Amendment. In this regard, the Court stated:

. . . It is not rare that a content-based classification of speech has been accepted because it may be appropriately generalized that within the confines of a given classification, the evil to be restricted to overwhelmingly outweighs the expressive interests, if any, at stake, that no process of case-by-case adjudication is required. When a definable class of material, such as that covered by § 263.15, bears so heavily and pervasively on the welfare of children engaged in its production, we think the balance of competing interests is clearly struck and that it is permissible to consider these materials as without the protection of the First Amendment.

31 Cr.L.R. at 3144.

After setting forth these five criteria, the Court enunciated a new test governing child pornography cases, separate from the obscenity standard of Miller, stating:

The Miller formulation is adjusted in the following respects: a trier of fact need not find that the material appeals to the prurient interest of the average person; it is not required that sexual conduct portrayed be done so in a patently offensive manner; and the material at issue need not be considered as a whole.

31 Cr.L.R. at 3144.

In the instant case, even assuming, arguendo, that the appellants' brief presented valid free speech issues to this Court, both the rationale and the holding of the Ferber case render the appellants' points without merit.

Here, the state's interest in protecting minors is at least as compelling as was that of New York in passing the legislation upheld in Ferber. In fact, the appellants recognize that the legislative purpose behind the Utah statute, as well as other state statutes dealing with child pornography, is "to prohibit the use of minors in pornographic photographs and films" (see appellants' brief, page 5). Such is a valid state purpose. Here, also, as in Ferber, analysis of the child pornography problem is not adequately handled under the Miller standard (see Point I of this brief). Since the purpose of the statute at issue here is to prohibit the abuse of children, the issue of the resulting work's literary, artistic, or social value is, if an issue at all, to be weighed in light of the statute's purpose.

As mentioned supra, this case involves the production rather than the distribution of child pornography. Even were production of child pornography to be seen as holding the same free speech protection of distribution, no First Amendment protection can be found for such activity since any free speech protections are outweighed by the State's interest in protecting children.

Here, as well, the value of producing child pornography through the sexual exploitation of a minor is "exceedingly modest, if not de minimus." It can hardly be argued that the photographs

entered into evidence in the appellants' trial constitute an important and necessary part of a literary performance or a scientific or educational work (see Exhibits 1-30).

Given these facts, coupled with the United States Supreme Court's determination that child pornography falls without the pale of First Amendment protection, it cannot be asserted that the trial court's finding of guilt deprived the appellants of free speech protection, either under the United States Constitution or under the Utah Constitution, Article I, § 15, which provides in pertinent part:

No law shall be passed to abridge or restrain the freedom of speech or of the press.

For the same reasons underlying the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ferber that child pornography is not protected under the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, this Court should find that the Utah Constitution, the provisions of which closely parallel those of the United States Constitution, does not include child pornography within its protective ambit.

The Supreme Court's adjustment in Ferber of the formulation of the Miller standard as regards child pornography renders the cases relied upon by the appellants--Roth v. United States, 344 U.S. 476 (1957); Miller, cited supra; and Home Box Office, Inc. v. Wilkinson, Civil No. C-81-0331J (D.C. Utah 1982) inapplicable in this case, even were this case to be seen as one involving free speech issues. Strict adherence to the requirements that materials appeal to the prurient interest, portray sexual conduct in a patently offensive manner, and as

a whole offend community standards is, under Ferber, not required. Those cases cited by the appellant which hold to the contrary are old law, and irrelevant within the context of this case.

Under Ferber, then, the First Amendment issues raised by the appellants are meritless, and the appellants' cause based on free speech issues should be rejected.

POINT IV

SINCE NEITHER THE RIGHT TO PRIVACY NOR FAMILY RIGHTS ARE INVOLVED IN THIS CASE, THE APPELLANTS SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED TO CHALLENGE UTAH CODE ANN., § 76-10-1206.5 ON THOSE GROUNDS.

In Point II of their brief, the appellants have raised the defense of a right of privacy, citing Stanley v. Georgia, 394 U.S. 557 (1969), arguing that because "a state has no business telling a man, sitting alone in his own house, what books he may read or what films he may watch," 394 U.S. at 565, the acts of the appellants constituting the production of child pornography are protected. Such an argument is patently illogical. In the instant case, there was no issue raised as to the appellants' right to read, watch, or observe sexually explicit materials, the central issue in Stanley. Here, as has been previously mentioned and has been recognized by the appellants, the purpose behind the child pornography statute in question goes beyond the acts of an adult in the privacy of his own home. It extends to the prohibition, within the state's police power, of the employment or use of a child to engage in activities from which the State has validly chosen to protect him. In view of this State goal, the

appellants' right of privacy, like First Amendment rights, if any be extant, must be weighed in the balance of competing policies and factors. See Ferber, supra, at 3134.

The appellants' attempt to assert the minor's right of privacy as a shield for the appellants (see appellants' brief, page 21) is misplaced in any case. While it may be true that a minor is protected, under a right of privacy, to view obscene materials, under the Stanley doctrine (although under Ginsberg v. New York, 390 U.S. 629 (1968), this is not clear), and are, as asserted by the appellants, entitled to limited guarantees of free speech, the minor's rights cannot be asserted by third parties charged with employing, using, or enticing that minor for criminal purposes.

It is ironic that the appellants, by whose conduct the minor's privacy was in a real sense violated, should rely on a defense of an unwarranted governmental intrusion into their privacy by prosecution under the child pornography statute. In essence the appellants are asserting a right of privacy to shield them in violating another person's privacy. Such an assertion is, at best, puzzling.

Equally baffling is the appellants' argument, raised for the first time on appeal, that Utah Code Ann., § 76-10-1206.5 interferes with the relationship of a parent to his child. As a general rule, this Court will not consider an issue for the first time on appeal. State v. Hales, Utah, No. 18083, decided July 7, 1982; State v. Treadway, 28 Utah 2d 160, 499 P.2d 846 (1972); State v. Starlight Club, 17 Utah 2d 174, 408 P.2d 912 (1965).

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